FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 9/5/2018 4:34 PM

Supreme Court No. 96287-1

No. 35043-6-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

EDUARDO PEREZ,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Petitioner WSBA # 41177

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Eduardo Perez, appellant below, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Perez appealed his Yakima County convictions for attempted residential burglary and third degree malicious mischief. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision on August 9, 2018.

Appendix. This motion is based upon RAP 13.3(e) and 13.5A.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. The United States and Washington Constitutions require the State prove all elements of a charged offense. Where the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Perez attempted to enter Ms. Porter's home, was the Court of Appeals decision in conflict with decisions of this Court, and with other decisions of the Court of Appeals, requiring review? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)?
- 2. The State must prove all elements of a charged offense. In order to convict an individual of an attempted crime, sufficient evidence must be presented that the accused took a substantial step toward the commission of the crime. Was there sufficient evidence presented at trial for the jury to conclude that Mr. Perez took a substantial step toward the commission of residential burglary, and specifically that he intended to

commit a crime within the residence, and thus, was the Court of Appeals decision in conflict with decisions of this Court, requiring review? RAP 13.4(b)(1)?

3. Under RCW 9.94A.777(1), a sentencing court must determine whether a defendant who suffers from a mental health condition has the ability to pay LFOs. Where the trial court failed to determine whether Mr. Perez had the ability to pay LFOs in light of his mental health condition and the Court of Appeals found inadequate evidence of Mr. Perez's mental health difficulties in the record, should this Court grant review, as a matter of substantial public interest? RAP 13.4(b)(4)

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For many years, Eduardo Perez lived with his mother in a small house in the rural community of Outlook, in Yakima County. RP 45-49.¹ The homes in this community are surrounded by generous acreage, including vineyards and fields. RP 45-51.

Next to the Perez house is a home owned by Ethel Porter, who was approximately 79 years old at the time of the events described.² Ms.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings consists of two consecutively-paginated volumes, referred to as "RP __." A separately-paginated volume containing hearings conducted in 2015-16 is referred to as "2RP."

² By the time of the trial, Ms. Porter was 81. RP 45.

Porter's home is separated from Mr. Perez's by a small field. RP 49. A lane runs by the mailboxes serving the two homes and connects the houses to the main road. <u>Id</u>. The two families have lived next door to each other peacefully for over 50 years. <u>Id</u>. at 49, 79.

On September 30, 2015, Ms. Porter's older sister Mary Lou Ribail drove over to her sister Ethel Porter's home for a visit. RP 54. At approximately 11:00 a.m., the two sisters were socializing inside the house when they heard a loud sound at the front door. RP 56. Ms. Porter heard a voice outside "hollering and cussing," stating, "I know you're in there." RP 57-58. Ms. Porter believed the voice belonged to Mr. Perez, based upon her previous conversations with him. <u>Id</u>.³

Ms. Porter's front door was never opened, nor any other door to her property, but the two women began to hear the sound of windows breaking. RP 57-59. Ms. Porter and her sister saw rocks coming through the windows of the home, until almost every window of the house was broken. RP 57-59. At one point, Ms. Porter looked through the window blinds and saw a figure in a red shirt, who she believed to be Mr. Perez. RP 60.

³ Ms. Porter stated Mr. Perez complained that the Porter grandsons were peeking into the Perez family windows and saying things about Mr. Perez. RP 51-52. Mr. Perez also claimed the boys had taken his cell phone from the vineyards near both homes. RP 52. A neighbor dispute ensued.

Ms. Porter called 911, and the Yakima County Sheriff's Department, as well as Sunnyside Police officers, responded to the scene. RP 139, 185. Extensive damage was noted to Ms. Porter's windows, as well as to Ms. Ribail's car, which had been parked in the driveway. RP 61-69, 99-102.

When officers arrived, Mr. Perez was in front of his own home, down the lane and next door to Ms. Porter's house. RP 142. When Officer Thomas Orth asked Mr. Perez to come speak with him, Mr. Perez cooperated. RP 145. Mr. Perez's only statement was, "It's the neighbor, it's the neighbor." RP 145-46. Mr. Perez also asked the officer to accompany him to Ms. Porter's house to help him explain, telling the officer, "Let's go to the neighbor's." RP 146-47. Mr. Perez never suggested he was trying to enter Ms. Porter's house.

Mr. Perez was charged with attempted residential burglary, malicious mischief in the third degree for the damage to Ms. Porter's house, and malicious mischief in the second degree for the damage to Ms. Ribail's car. CP 10-11.

Following trial, Mr. Perez was acquitted of the malicious mischief count related to the car. CP 58. He was convicted of attempted residential burglary and malicious mischief in the third degree for the damage to the house. CP 56, 57.

Mr. Perez appealed, and on August 9, 2018, following oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision.

Appendix.

Mr. Perez seeks review in this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW, AS THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND WITH OTHER DECISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, AND INVOLVES A MATTER OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

1. The State presented insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Perez of attempted residential burglary.

The State has the burden of proving all essential elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 300-01, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). The absence of proof of an element beyond a reasonable doubt requires dismissal of the conviction and charge. E.g., Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

To prove a residential burglary, the State is required to prove two elements: (1) that an individual entered or remained unlawfully in a

dwelling; and (2) that he intended to commit a crime against a person or property therein. RCW 9A.52.025(1).

For the State to prove a person is guilty of an <u>attempt</u> to commit a crime, the State must establish that, with intent to commit a specific crime, the person committed any act which is a substantial step toward the commission of that crime. RCW 9A.28.020(1). "Both the substantial step and the intent must be established beyond a reasonable doubt for a conviction to lawfully follow." <u>State v. Bencivenga</u>, 137 Wn.2d 703, 707, 974 P.2d 832 (1999) (<u>quoting State v. Aumick</u>, 126 Wn.2d 422, 429-30, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995)).

Here, there was insufficient evidence that Mr. Perez took a substantial step toward entering Ms. Porter's home. The State's theory was that Mr. Perez kicked the door of Ms. Porter's home in an attempt to enter. RP 218-19. First, there was no evidence the alleged kicking was done in effort to enter, as opposed to with intent to cause damage, as with the windows. There was no other evidence presented that Mr. Perez attempted to enter the home, such as actually trying to open the door with the doorknob or using tools to pry open the door. RP 57-60, 91-92. Nor did either witness testify that Mr. Perez attempted to enter through one of the windows that he broke or even reached a hand or any body part into

the house. <u>Id.</u>, RP 196-97 (officers stated Mr. Perez had no injuries from broken glass when he was arrested).

The State failed to meet its burden to prove a substantial step toward entry of the premises beyond a reasonable; therefore, the Court of Appeals decision upholding the conviction is in conflict with this Court's decisions and should be reviewed by this Court. Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d at 707; RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In addition to proving a substantial step toward entering the home, the State was required to prove Mr. Perez intended to commit a crime against a person or property, once inside. Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d at 707. Because there was no actual unlawful entry, the State could not rely on an inference of unlawful intent, and had to prove the intent to commit a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Bergeron, 105 Wn.2d 1, 19-20, 711 P.2d 1000 (1985) (the court may not infer intent to commit a crime from evidence that is "patently equivocal"); State v. Jackson, 112 Wn.2d 867, 876, 774 P.2d 1211 (1989).

2. The Court of Appeals decision requires this Court's review, because the decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court, as well as with its own decisions.

This decision requires review, because the Perez's case is indistinguishable from <u>State v. Jackson</u>. In <u>Jackson</u>, this Court found the defendant's conduct consistent only with malicious mischief, and at best,

"patently equivocal." 112 Wn.2d at 876. In <u>Jackson</u>, the defendant approached a business and took several "running kicks at the door and bounc[ed] off ... aimed at the window area of the door." <u>Id</u>. at 870. When Mr. Jackson realized he was being observed by police, he attempted to walk briskly away, and was quickly arrested. <u>Id</u>.

As in <u>Jackson</u>, witnesses believed Mr. Perez kicked the door and shouted, but there was no evidence of forced entry or of any similar attempt. RP 189-90, 195 (no evidence that door was opened or doorknob damaged, nor that threshold was crossed). The facts in Mr. Perez's case are even stronger than in <u>Jackson</u>, as Mr. Perez's visit occurred at 11:00 a.m., rather than the late night setting of <u>Jackson</u>. 112 Wn.2d at 870.

The Court of Appeals found <u>Jackson</u> inapposite, asserting that this Court explained the circumstances of attempted burglary may raise more than one reasonable conclusion about the intent of a defendant's actions, and that <u>Jackson</u> involved instructional error, rather than sufficiency. 112 Wn.2d at 870. The fact that <u>Jackson</u> addressed instructional error does not render the analysis "irrelevant," as the Court suggests. Appendix at 5-6. This Court held in <u>Jackson</u>, "an inference cannot follow that there was intent to commit a crime *within* the building just by the defendants' shattering of the window in the door. This evidence is consistent with two

different interpretations; one indicating attempted burglary, a felony; and the other malicious mischief, a misdemeanor." 112 Wn.2d at 876.

Further, the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with its own published decisions. In State v. Sandoval, a case discussed in the briefing. as well as at oral argument, the Court of Appeals reversed a Yakima County burglary conviction. 123 Wn. App. 1, 5-6, 94 P.3d 323 (2004). Although Mr. Sandoval kicked in the front door of a stranger's home at 3:00 a.m., shoving the owner in the chest, the Court stated, "there is no fact, alone or in conjunction with others, from which entering with intent to commit a crime more likely than not could flow." Id. at 5. The Court noted that Mr. Sandoval was not carrying burglar's tools, he did not try to sneak in, he was not wearing "burglary-like apparel," and he did not attempt to flee. <u>Id</u>. (citing Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d at 705; Bergeron 105 Wn.2d at 11). The Court also relied upon the fact that Mr. Sandoval "did not try to take any of [the complainant's] property or confess to doing so." <u>Id.</u> at 6 (citing State v. Brunson, 76 Wn. App. 24, 30-31, 877 P.2d 1289, aff'd, 128 Wn.2d 98, 905 P.2d 346 (1995)).

Mr. Perez's case cannot be meaningfully distinguished from Sandoval and Jackson; therefore, the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with these decisions, and review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

3. This Court should grant review, due to the trial court's failure to make an appropriate inquiry into Mr. Perez's ability to pay LFO's, considering his known mental health history.

Under RCW 9.94A.777(1), a sentencing court must make an individualized inquiry into a defendant's ability to pay legal financial obligations (LFOs) when he or she suffers from a mental health condition. State v. Tedder, 194 Wn. App. 753, 756, 378 P.3d 246 (2016). This Court held in State v. Blazina that trial courts "must consider the defendant's current or future ability to pay" based on the "particular facts of the defendant's case." 182 Wn.2d 827, 834, 344 P.3d 680 (2015) (the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose).

The Court of Appeals finds that the record contains no evidence that Mr. Perez suffers from a mental health condition. Appendix at 7. The record actually indicates that Mr. Perez was sent to Eastern State Hospital for a competency evaluation in November 2015, which Mr. Perez submits reveals clear concern in the record for his mental health. 2RP 2-11; CP 5-6.

⁴ This Court reached the (unpreserved) merits in <u>Blazina</u>, in large part, due to significant concerns regarding equal justice and the need to reform the "broken" LFO system. 182 Wn.2d at 835-36; <u>Tedder</u>, 194 Wn. App. at 757.

The "pernicious consequences" of unpaid LFOs are equally damaging for those who suffer from both mental and physical illness; therefore, this Court should grant review so that Mr. Perez's individual circumstances can be properly considered. <u>Tedder</u>, 194 Wn. App. at 757. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed, as it is in conflict with decisions of this Court, and with other decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).