FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/4/2018 1:35 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96287-1

THE SUPREME COURT OF

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

EDUARDO PEREZ, Appellant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

TA	ABLE O	F AUTHOI	RITIES	•••••	•••••	ii-iii	
A.	INTRODUCTION						
	ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION

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

ARGUMENT

This petition is governed by RAP 13.4(b), which sets forth the standard an appellant must meet before their case will be accepted for review. Perez claims that his petition meets the criterion of RAP 13.4(b) (1) and (2), this is patently incorrect.

The court of appeals opinion does not meet any of the criterion set forth in RAP 13.4(b). The opinion does not $\underline{\mathbf{1}}$) Conflict with any decision by this court or (2) any opinion by any division of the Court of Appeals.

1a-b. Insufficiency of the evidence – conflict.

Perez claims that the Court of Appeals decision regarding the sufficiency of the State's evidence is in conflict with is that the State had to present additional evidence regarding the actions of this defendant which would prove he intended to enter the residence after he kicked the door and smashed out the windows.

The case law does not support that interpretation as was clearly set forth in the opinion of the Court of Appeals This was an ATTEMPT.

Therefore, the State did not need to prove an actual entry just the attempt to enter. There is literally few things on this planet which are a more clear indication that a party is attempting to enter a location than "kicking in the door."

Perez interprets the evidence in a manner that does not comport with the reality of the facts given at trial. His argument appears to be that the State had to demonstrate actual entry, once again this was an attempt.

The law in this area is decades old and the evidence presented at trial was more than sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that what Perez intended to do was get into this house and commit a crime.

The State was required, and did prove Perez took a substantial step towards committing the crime of residential burglary. A person commits the crime of burglary when he enters a building with the intent to commit a crime therein. RCW 9A.52.030(1). A person "attempts" an offense when, with the intent to commit a specific crime, he takes a substantial step toward committing the crime. RCW 9A.28.020(1).

In order to constitute a "substantial step," the conduct must strongly corroborate the actor's criminal purpose. State v. Townsend, 147 Wn.2d 666, 57 P.3d 255 (2002); State v. Aumick, 126 Wn.2d 422, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995). A 'substantial step' is conduct strongly corroborative of the actor's criminal purpose." In re Pers. Restraint of Borrero, 161 Wn.2d 532, 539, 167 P.3d 1106 (2007) State v. Wilson, 158 Wn.App. 305, 242 P.3d 19 (2010) ""Mere preparation to commit a crime is not a substantial step." Townsend, 147 Wn.2d at 679, 57 P.3d 255. In order for conduct to comprise a substantial step, it must be strongly corroborative of the defendant's criminal purpose. State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 452, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). Whether conduct constitutes a substantial step is a question of fact. State v. Billups, 62 Wn.App. 122, 126, 813 P.2d 149 (1991).

As Judge Pennell stated in the opinion authored by her:

Mr. Perez first asserts there is insufficient evidence to

show he took a substantial step toward entering Ms. Porter's home. We conclude there was. The evidence shows Mr. Perez kicked the door multiple times, and with enough force to make the whole house shake. He then systematically broke almost every window in the house and taunted Ms. Porter and Ms. Ribail as he did so. The fact that Mr. Perez was unsuccessful in breaking through the door and never actually climbed in any of the windows is what causes his offense to fall under the auspice of an attempt, instead of a completed crime. The incomplete nature of his conduct does not render the State's evidence insufficient. Viewing these facts in a light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find beyond a reasonable doubt Mr. Perez's actions were part of an unsuccessful effort to unlawfully force entry into Ms. Porter's home, and thus constitute a substantial step toward residential burglary. Slip 4-5

Not one single word of the opinion issued in this case conflicts with any of the law cited by Perez, there is no basis pursuant to RAP 13.4 for review to be granted.

Here, as was done in the briefing in the Court of Appeals, Perez claims he knows the "intent" of why the windows were broken and yet there is not a single word on the record to supporting that claim.

There is nothing in the record other than the testimony of the State's witnesses, therefore this theory that Perez's "intent" when he smashed out almost all of the windows in the house was purely to damage this home is speculation and without merit.

Perez did not testify at trial standing on his right to remain silent.

The jury was allowed to infer what the intent of Perez was from the evidence presented. Issues of witness credibility are to be determined by the trier of fact and cannot be reconsidered by an appellate court. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). A reviewing court will consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution. <u>Id</u>. It also must defer to the finder of fact in resolving conflicting evidence and credibility determinations. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d at 71. A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence requires that the defendant address the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn in favor of the State, with circumstantial evidence and direct evidence considered equally reliable. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). The elements of a crime can be established by both direct and circumstantial evidence. State v. Brooks, 45 Wn. App. 824, 826, 727 P.2d 988 (1986). One is no less valuable than the other. There is sufficient evidence to support the conviction if a rational trier of fact could find each element of the crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Perez's claim is the State did not prove his intent was to commit a burglary when he was kicking the door and smashing windows out most of the windows in this house. He states "First, there was no evidence the alleged kicking was done in effort to enter, as **opposed to with intent (sic)** to cause damage, as with the windows. There was no other evidence

presented that Mr. Perez attempted to enter the home, such as actually trying to open the door with the doorknob or using tools to pry open the door. RP 57-60, 9 1-92." Petition at 6. (Emphasis added.)

This is not supported by the record and again, Perez did not testify at his trial, so the statements of the State's witnesses are unrefuted in the record.

Perez claimed in the Court of Appeals and again before this court that State v. Jackson, 112 Wn.2d 867, 774 P.2d 1211 (1989) is the case which is controlling and that the ruling in this case is in conflict with Jackson. "The problem with Mr. Perez's reliance on Jackson is that Jackson only addressed instructional error. The court did not engage in a sufficiency analysis. Because Mr. Perez does not allege instructional error, Jackson's analysis is largely irrelevant to Mr. Perez's case.(5)" Footnote 5 continues: "If anything, Jackson undercuts Mr. Perez's sufficiency challenge. Jackson reversed the defendant's conviction without prejudice. Had the evidence been insufficient to support an inference of intent, the reversal should have been with prejudice. (Slip at 6)"

Judge Pennell cites to <u>State v. Bergeron</u>, 105 Wn.2d 1, 11, 711 P.2d 1000 (1985) stating ""Unmistakably," the State's evidence showed Mr. Perez "intended more than a social call.""

The direct testimony of the nearly 80-year-old resident was that the

door had recently been replaced:

- A. My son, Darren, had came over from the coast, and he put a brand new door on it.
- Q. Why was that done?
- A. I think it was because this had been happening.
- Q. With Mr. Perez?
- A. Mm-hmm.
- Q. Yes or no?
- A. Yes. RP 01.10.2017. page 55

Deputy Jose Aguila testified as follows regarding the footprints on the door:

- Q. What does it show us?
- A. It's a photograph of foot impressions on the door being kicked.
- Q. Does it accurately portray the way the door looked when you investigated?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. On that photograph, does there appear to be some tread in that footprint?
- A. There's a specific pattern. You can see there's a lighter impression and then a heavier impression. At least two separate impressions, one over the other. RP 01.10.2017. page 191

Bergeron also states the court's reasoning why there is no need to charge and prove what crime a defendant intended to commit in the location he was attempting to burgle:

Another consequence is that despite the fact that 5,755 attempted burglaries occurred in this state last year (1984), the crime of attempted burglary would have to be virtually written off the books as a crime. Except in the case where a burglary defendant or an accomplice confesses, how can the State be reasonably expected to prove beyond a reasonable doubt what specific crime or crimes were intended to be committed inside a building

when entry is attempted but not gained?

. . .

Knowledge of criminal intent usually resides exclusively in the mind of the defendant. He may unlawfully enter a building with the intent to commit a certain crime, and ultimately commit a different crime, or no crime at all. He is nonetheless guilty of burglary.

In either case, the State would be hard pressed to prove entry with intent to commit a crime if it were required to specify exactly which of several crimes available to the defendant he intended to commit. Such a requirement would seriously weaken the enforcement of burglary laws.

Id at 9-10 (Footnotes omitted)

State v. Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d 703, 709, 974 P.2d 832 (1999) addresses an attempted burglary. The Supreme Court stated "The jury is permitted to infer from one fact the existence of another essential to guilt, if reason and experience support the inference,"

Judge Pennell stated the following in the court's opinion:

Rather than Jackson, Mr. Perez's case is controlled by State v. Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d 703, 974 P.2d 832 (1999). Bencivenga held that the analysis in Jackson applies only to the propriety of a permissive inference instruction. Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d at 708. Jackson does not apply to the question of whether sufficient evidence supports a jury's verdict. Unlike what is true in the instructional context, where judges are restricted from guiding jurors' assessments of the facts, "[n]othing forbids a jury . . .from logically inferring intent from proven facts, so long as it is satisfied the state has proved that intent beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. at 709. Although a jury should not reach an inference of guilt when there are equally reasonable conclusions that can follow from a set of circumstances, the reasonable

doubt standard (not the sufficiency test) protects a defendant from conviction in such circumstances. In the end, "it is the province of the finder of fact to determine what conclusions reasonably follow from the particular evidence in a case." Id. at 711.

Turning once again to this court's opinion in <u>Bergeron</u> at 19-20 "Intent may be inferred from all the facts and circumstances surrounding the commission of an act or acts. This rule is applicable in cases of attempted crimes as well as in cases where the crime has been consummated. Although intent may not be inferred from conduct that is patently equivocal, it may be inferred from conduct that plainly indicates such intent as a matter of logical probability. (Citations omitted.)

In the case before this court there is no other conclusion a reasonable jury could infer from the facts other than Perez was trying to get into this rural home to "commit a crime against a person or property therein."

Perez claims that the two kicks to a replaced and secured door and the smashing out of almost all of the windows are facts that are "even stronger than in <u>Jackson</u> because his criminal conduct was conducted in the daylight hours.

The object of Perez's actions was clearly that he wanted to get at the two women in the home as evidenced by his taunts and threats as he assaulted this home. There is no time frame in the world as it presently exists which is indicative a criminal attempting to burglarize a home or business. This is not the 1800's when the acts such as this were done in the close of the night.

1c. - LFO's – mental health inquiry.

Perez cites to <u>State v. Tedder</u>, 194 Wn. App. 753, 754-55, 378 P.3d 246 (2016) as dispositive of this allegation. He alleges the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with <u>Tedder</u>. Once again, the Court of Appeals decision:

The record contains no such evidence that Mr. Perez suffers from a mental health condition. There was a competency evaluation, but Mr. Perez was found competent. Nothing in the record shows Mr. Perez suffers from a diagnosed mental health condition. This record stands in stark contrast to the extensive evidence of mental health issues affecting the defendant in *State v. Tedder*, 194 Wn. App. 753, 754-55, 378 P.3d 246 (2016). Moreover, the trial court specifically inquired into Mr. Perez's ability to pay and asked him about employment limitations. The only limitation he disclosed was a physical disability. The trial court struck all discretionary LFOs due to this physical disability.

The Petitioner has wholly and totally failed to set forth anything from the trial court record which would support this allegation. The court did not need to make inquiry as to a defendant's mental health status before costs and assessments were imposed because there is nothing in the record which would indicate that Mr. Perez meets the definition in RCW 9.94A.777(1) or (2). There can be no basis under RAP 13.4 for review if

there are not facts which support the allegation.

In this petition Perez says that because he was sent to Eastern State Hospital for a competency evaluation he therefore meets the definition in RCW 9.94A.777, this is clearly incorrect. Even if there were more facts in the record pertaining to the evaluation a competency evaluation is not in and of itself a diagnosis of a "mental health condition" a person could be sent to Eastern for innumerable reasons for an evaluation for competency that have nothing to do with a "mental health condition" which meets the standard of RCW 9.94A.777, these two situations are not synonymous.

And to make this argument even less plausible he was found to be competent and returned to Yakima County for trial.

In his opening Court of Appeals brief Petitioner misrepresented the record stating the court abused its discretion when it failed to consider Perez's "known" mental health issues...Mr. Perez appeared before the sentencing court with a significant mental health history...despite the clear mental health history, Mr. Perez's mental illness was not discussed..." (Appellant's brief 14-15.) (Emphasis added).

Perez cites to 2RP 2-11 and CP 52 as supportive of these statements. However, the record at 2RP 2-11 literally does not address anything regarding the reason for the request for a competency evaluation, it is purely a discussion between the parties and the court as to which

institution Perez should be sent to. CP 5-6 is a boilerplate order that was presented to the court so that an evaluation could be done, it too does not address a single thing about any alleged "mental health" issue or issues let alone that these issues are "significant." (See Appendix A for 2RP 2-11 and Appendix B for CP 5-6)

Perez conveniently ignores the following which is the colloquy between trial counsel and the court regarding this alleged issue at 2RP 12-13:

MR. BRUNS: Good morning, Your Honor. No. 3 on criminal motions, Eduardo Perez, 15-1-01523-6. We're on for competency status. We received the competency report from Eastern State Hospital late last week. They have found him competent to proceed with matters, so we are handing forward an order setting the schedule on the case for omnibus on 2/24, trial on 3/7. We will present the formal competency order this afternoon.

. . .

MR. KNITTLE:...You may recall from this morning, Your Honor, State of Washington versus Eduardo Perez, Cause 15-1-01523-6. This morning we advised you that pursuant to an order from Eastern State Hospital dated, I think, May [sic] 12, '16—7

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MR. KNITTLE: —in which the psychologist opined that he was, in fact, competent to stand trial, that we—we entered, as scheduled, an order with the trial date and an omnibus date, and—but I didn't yet have the order for the Court to sign that actually finds him competent. I have that order prepared. Mr. Bruns has reviewed and signed it, and present it now to the Court for signature.

THE COURT: Mr. Bruns, it appears you signed off on this? MR. BRUNS: Yeah, that's correct, Your Honor, we approve as to form and content.

(This order may be found at CP 7 and Appendix C.) 2RP 12-13

Eastern Washington State Hospital would not have reported to the trial court that Perez was competent to stand trial if he in fact had these alleged "significant" mental health issues.

There is literally nothing in the record before the trial court that would indicate that Mr. Perez has anything but the physical disability that was addressed by the trial court prior to the imposition if the LFO's which were imposed.

This case is factually distinguishable from <u>Tedder</u> they do not conflict with each other they are just factually distinguishable and therefore once again the facts in Perez's case do not comport with that case law he has cited. Reading from <u>Tedder</u> clearly sets forth this distinction:

Tedder has an extensive history of mental illness, including diagnoses for schizoaffective disorder, antisocial personality disorder, and bipolar I disorder, and more than two dozen past hospitalizations for mental health treatment

On one or two prior occasions, Tedder appeared in mental health court.

. . .

At sentencing, Tedder's counsel disclosed to the trial court that he had represented Tedder a number of times in the past when Tedder had "breaks," and that after Tedder's admission into mental health court, Tedder became homeless when living with his father did not work out and was then hospitalized at Western

State Hospital. 3 Verbatim Report of Proceedings at 500-01. The trial court recognized Tedder's difficulties when he was not medicated and acknowledged that Tedder had appeared before the mental health court. (Tedder at 754-55)

Perez did not raise this issue in the trial court, it was therefore, waived the issue on appeal. The Court of Appeals briefly addressed this issue then dismissed it; "Unpreserved LFO errors do not command review as a matter of right." State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 833, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), citing RAP 2.5(a), the court declined to further address this allegation, this court should do the same.

D. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals opinion does not merit review by this court under RAP 13.4 and therefore this court should deny review.